| S247677    |  |
|------------|--|
| Case No. S |  |

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

#### LUIS GONZALEZ,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

# JOHN R. MATHIS AND JOHN R. MATHIS AS TRUSTEE OF THE JOHN R. MATHIS TRUST

Defendants and Respondents.

After a Published Decision by the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division Seven, Case No. B272344

Superior Court for the County of Los Angeles, Case No. BC542498, Honorable Gerald Rosenberg, Judge

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

#### ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Whether a hirer who delegates responsibility for worksite safety to an independent contractor nonetheless may be liable in tort for injury sustained by the contractor's employee when the hirer does not retain control over the worksite and the hazard causing the injury was known to the contractor.
- 2. Whether, even assuming a hirer may be liable in such circumstances, the Court of Appeal properly held that the hirer is entitled to summary judgment only if the hirer establishes as a matter of law that the contractor could unilaterally have taken reasonable safety precautions to remedy the hazard causing the injury.

#### INTRODUCTION

In a series of important decisions over the last 25 years, beginning with *Privette v. Superior Court* (1993) 5 Cal.4th 689 (hereafter *Privette*), this Court has carefully defined and limited the circumstances in which an independent contractor's employee may recover in tort from the party hiring the contractor. Under those decisions, when employees of independent contractors are injured at a worksite, they generally cannot sue the party that hired the independent contractor. (See *SeaBright Ins. Co. v. US Airways, Inc.* (2011) 52 Cal.4th 590, 594 (hereafter *SeaBright*).)

This Court has identified two exceptions to the general rule: (1) where the hirer retains control over the contractor's work and affirmatively contributes to the injury (see *Hooker v. Dept. of Transportation* (2002) 27 Cal.4th 198 (hereafter *Hooker*));

and (2) where the hirer fails to warn the contractor of a concealed hazard (see *Kinsman v. Unocal Corp.* (2005) 37 Cal.4th 659 (hereafter *Kinsman*)). Absent those narrow exceptions, this Court has explained that "[b]y hiring an independent contractor, the hirer implicitly delegates to the contractor *any tort law duty* it owes to the contractor's employees to ensure the safety of the specific workplace that is the subject of the contract." (*Seabright*, *supra*, 52 Cal.4th at p. 594 [italics added].)

In this case, the trial court applied those principles to hold that the employee of an independent contractor (plaintiff Luis Gonzalez) could not recover against a homeowner (defendant Johnny Mathis) for injuries sustained when he fell 8.5 feet while cleaning a skylight located on the roof of Mathis's one-story home—a skylight Gonzalez had been cleaning without incident for 20 years. Consistent with *Privette* and its progeny, the trial court held that, because Mathis retained no control over the worksite, and any hazards were well-known to Gonzalez, Mathis was not liable for Gonzalez's injuries as a matter of law.

The Court of Appeal reversed in a significant published decision. In its view, *Kinsman* created a previously unrecognized *third* exception to *Privette's* general rule, under which a hirer is liable in tort "when he or she exposes a contractor (or its employees) to a known hazard that cannot be remedied through reasonable safety precautions." (Opinion of the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division Seven, filed Feb. 6, 2018 at p. 19, Ex. A attached (hereafter "Op.")) Finding the "reasonableness of a party's actions is generally a question of fact for the jury to

decide," the court concluded that a hirer cannot avoid trial in a suit seeking damages for injuries sustained by an independent contractor's employee unless the hirer can "establish[] as a matter of law that [the contractor] could have remedied [the hazard] through the adoption of reasonable safety precautions." (*Id.* at p. 20.) Accordingly, it remanded for trial.

The Court of Appeal's significant, published decision warrants this Court's review for several reasons.

First, the question of whether and in what circumstances a homeowner or other hirer may be liable to an independent contractor's employee for injuries sustained at the worksite is critically important, affecting millions of transactions in this State annually. (See Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1).) This Court has repeatedly granted review over the last two decades to address that question. And review is particularly warranted here, because the Court of Appeal's decision eviscerates the careful framework developed by this Court, and the important policies underlying it.

In *Hooker*, the Court held a hirer who retains control of a worksite is not liable for injuries sustained by an independent contractor's employee unless the hirer affirmatively contributes to the injury. (27 Cal.4th at p. 202.) But under the Court of Appeal's decision, a hirer who *delegates* control of the worksite and *does not* affirmatively contribute to the injury may now be liable. Penalizing property owners for delegating responsibility for safety to contractors not only makes little sense, it contradicts California's "strong policy in favor of delegation of responsibility

and assignment of liability to independent contractors." (SeaBright, supra, 52 Cal.4th at p. 596 [citation omitted].)

The Court of Appeal's novel reading of Kinsman also upends decisions by this Court post-dating Kinsman. In Tverberg v. Fillner Const., Inc. (2010) 49 Cal.4th 518, 521 (hereafter Tverberg), this Court unanimously held that a hirer who has not retained control of a worksite is not liable under *Privette* and its progeny for an independent contractor's injuries from a known hazard—even when the injury "result[s] from risks inherent in the hired work" (Tverberg v. Fillner Construction, Inc. (2010) 49 Cal.4th 518, 528. The same plaintiff would now recover, however, simply by pleading the Court of Appeal's new exception. That result exposes unwitting homeowners to catastrophic liability in countless cases involving inherent hazards—even when the homeowner has no reason to believe the contractor is in danger. And it frustrates Seabright's heretofore clear guidance that a hirer may delegate "any tort law duty it owes to the contractor's employees to ensure the safety of the specific workplace that is the subject of the contract." (52 Cal.4th at p. 594 [italics added].) This Court's review is needed, therefore, to prevent the Court of Appeal's newfound "exception" from swallowing *Privette's* vital rule.

Second, review is warranted to resolve the conflict among California appellate courts resulting from this decision. Indeed, only weeks before this Court's decision, a different division of the same Court of Appeal decided a case involving nearly *identical* facts—an independent contractor's employee who fell off a

building while washing windows—but reached the opposite result. *Delgadillo v. Television Center, Inc.* (2018) 20 Cal.App.5th 1078, petn. for review pending, petn. filed Mar. 7, 2018 (hereafter *Delgadillo*). In contrast to the court's decision in this case, *Delgadillo* found that because the hirer had delegated responsibility for the safety of the job to the contractor, it could not be held liable for the injuries of the contractor's employee. (*Id.* at pp. \*6-7.) As those inconsistent results underscore, this Court's review is "necessary to secure uniformity of decision" among California's courts. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1).)

Because the resolution of the questions presented impacts countless business decisions and carries widespread consequences for homeowners, general contractors, insurance providers, and employees, including the cost of contractor services and property insurance in this State, the need for certainty is acute and this Court's intervention is necessary.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case presents a fact pattern that repeats countless times around California every day—a homeowner's hiring of a skilled independent contractor to perform maintenance or other specialized work at the home.

#### A. Factual Background

1. 82-year-old Johnny Mathis, one of the most well-recognized American recording artists of the twentieth century, has lived in the same one-story house in Los Angeles for 56 years.

(2-AA-317.¹) The one-story home has a flat roof, only 8.5 feet from the ground. (Op. at p. 2.) Part of that roof is covered by a large skylight. (*Ibid.*)

Plaintiff Luis Gonzalez cleaned Mathis's skylight for roughly 20 years prior to the events at issue in this case. According to his marketing materials, Gonzalez has been a professional window and skylight cleaner "since 1988." 125-126, 162.) He began cleaning Mathis's house in the 1990s while working for Beverly Hills Window Cleaning. (2-AA-In the mid-2000s, he started his own cleaning 257-258.) business, Hollywood Hills Window Cleaning, which he advertised as a professional, expert company that "[s]pecialized in 'hard to reach windows and skylights." (Op. at p. 2.) By 2012, Gonzalez's company had 200-300 customers and seven employees. (3-AA-670. 674.) His advertisements touted his "[m]eticulous and careful workers" and represented that his employees were trained "to take extra care in his clients' homes, as well as with their own safety when cleaning windows." (3-AA-669.) Although he also represented that his company was bonded and carried insurance (3-AA-669), Gonzalez in fact never obtained workers' compensation insurance for his company or his employees in violation of California law (3-AA-675).

Shortly after opening his new business, Gonzalez contacted Marcia Carrasco, Mathis's longtime housekeeper, about hiring Hollywood Hills Window Cleaning rather than Gonzalez's former

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> "AA" refers to Appellant's Appendix.

employer to clean Mathis's skylights, windows, and house. (3-AA-667.) Carrasco ultimately hired Gonzalez's company as an independent contractor to clean Mathis's skylight. (Op. at p. 5.) From 2007 until December 2012, Hollywood Hills Window Cleaning was "regularly hired . . . to wash the skylight and perform other services on the property." (*Id.* at pp. 2-3.)

Gonzalez relied on his expertise and substantial experience to oversee the cleaning of the skylight. "Mathis and Carrasco had never told him how he should clean the skylight." (Op. at p. 15.) Nor would they have known how to supervise this work—Mathis himself was almost 80 years old and hospitalized at the time of the incident and was last on the roof in 2010, while Carrasco, then in her 70s, had been on the roof only three or four times in the entire 40 years she worked for Mathis. (2-AA-317; 3-AA-677-678.)

Having cleaned Mathis's skylight for two decades and accessed the roof "many, many times," Gonzalez knew the details of Mathis's roof well. (3-AA-673; see Op. at p. 3.) A one-story ladder accessing the roof is permanently affixed to the west side of the house. (Op. at p. 3.) An approximately three-foot high parapet wall begins near the top of the ladder, separating the main, interior part of the roof, including the skylight, from an exposed outer ledge, roughly two feet wide. (*Id.* at p. 2.) Individuals may walk inside of the parapet wall, but ventilation pipes and other mechanical equipment present there limit mobility to two adults walking side by side. (*Id.* at pp. 2, 20; see also 1-RA-1.)

Unbeknownst to Mathis, Gonzalez "always" used the ledge on the outside of the three-foot parapet wall to access the skylight, apparently in order to avoid the equipment located inside. (Op. at p. 3.) Gonzalez "knew [that] the ledge lacked any protective features," such as guard rails. (*Id.* at p. 4.) Gonzalez also stated that "[e]verybody knew" that the presence of loose pebbles and sand from aging roof shingles made the roof "slippery." (*Id.* at p. 3-4; see 1-AA-144:11-145:19.) Indeed, Gonzalez discussed these conditions with his employees for years prior to his fall. (Op. at pp. 3-4.) But neither he nor his employees ever attempted to take any safety measures other than not walking too close to the ledge. (3-AA-564-565, 582.)

Gonzalez asserted below that the court should consider "the authority of the contractor to take preventive measures required to eliminate [a] dangerous condition." (Gonzalez C.A. Opening Br. at p. 25.) Gonzalez claimed that there were at least "two preventive measures available in the instant case[:] repairing the roof and installing safety hooks." (Ibid.)Gonzalez believed "neither of [those measures] were within the scope of Gonzalez's business." (*Ibid.*) But he did not allege nor point to any evidence that he ever asked Mathis or Carrasco to install safety hooks. although Gonzalez testified that he told Mathis's And housekeeper that certain roof shingles should be replaced (Op. at p. 4), he never told either Mathis or Carrasco that he or his employees could not perform their job safely, or that any slippery conditions could not be ameliorated by simply sweeping up loose pebbles or sand, walking carefully on the ledge, holding onto the parapet wall, walking on the inside of the parapet wall, putting up a ladder closer to the skylight, or other potential precautions.

2. In the summer of 2012, Carrasco once again hired Gonzalez to clean the house and the skylight. (Op. at pp. 2-3.) While two of Gonzalez's employees were cleaning the skylight, Carrasco noticed water leaking into the house. (*Id.* at p. 3.) She asked Gonzalez to tell his employees to use less water so as to not damage the interior of the home. (*Ibid.*) Rather than proceeding inside the parapet wall, Gonzalez chose to walk on the two-foot ledge outside of the wall. (*Ibid.*) After he spoke to his employees, Gonzalez returned the same way (again choosing to walk along the ledge rather than within the parapet wall). When Gonzalez lost his footing, he fell to the ground 8.5 feet below, sustaining serious injury. (*Ibid.*)

#### B. Procedural History

1. On April 11, 2014, Gonzalez sued Mathis, asserting claims based on premises liability and negligence. (1-AA-1-5.) After full briefing and a hearing, the trial court granted Mathis's motion for summary judgment on March 8, 2016, holding Mathis owed no duty to Gonzalez due to his status as the employee of an independent contractor. (4-AA-870-871.) In so ruling, the court held that neither of *Privette's* exceptions applied. The court found *Hooker's* "retained control" exception inapplicable because neither Mathis nor Carrasco controlled the operative details of Gonzalez's work or affirmatively contributed to his injury. (4-AA-870.) The court likewise found *Kinsman's* 'concealed hazard' exception inapplicable because "[n]one of the conditions were

concealed to" Gonzalez, as Gonzalez readily admitted that he "knew of the purported dangerous conditions." (4-AA-871.)

2. The Court of Appeal reversed. The court agreed with the trial court that Gonzalez was hired "as an independent contractor," and that his "claims are therefore subject to *Privette* and its progeny." (Op. at p. 14.) The court further agreed that an independent contractor's employees are generally prohibited from suing the contractor's hirer for workplace injuries. (*Id.* at p. 4.)

The court next analyzed whether either of the "two exceptions" to *Privette's* rule articulated in *Hooker* and *Kinsman* applied. (Op. at p. 9.) The court first held Hooker's retainedcontrol exception was inapplicable because Gonzalez presented no evidence that Mathis retained control over the worksite in a manner that affirmatively contributed to his injuries. (Id. at pp. 14-17.) The court rejected Gonzalez's argument that Mathis retained control because Mathis was allegedly "the only party who had authority to fix the dangerous conditions on the roof." As the court explained, even "[p]assively (*Id.* at p. 16.) permitting an unsafe condition to occur" is "not sufficient to establish liability under *Hooker*." (*Ibid*. [citation omitted].) The court also reiterated that a homeowner's "failure to institute specific safety measures is not actionable unless there is some evidence the hirer ... had agreed to implement these measures." (*Ibid*. [citation omitted].) Because Gonzalez "presented no evidence showing that Mathis ever agreed to remedy the conditions on the roof," the court found Mathis could not be liable under *Hooker* for Gonzalez's injuries. (Op. at pp. 16-17.)

The court next turned to Kinsman. Because Gonzalez admitted he was well aware of the hazards of which he complained, Kinsman's exception for concealed hazards The Court of Appeal, however, indisputably did not apply. believed that *Kinsman* provides for an additional exception. Relying on language it conceded to be "technically dicta" (Op. at p. 18, fn. 1), the court pointed to *Kinsman's* acknowledgment that there "may be situations ... in which an obvious hazard, for which no warning is necessary, nonetheless gives rise to a duty on a landowner's part to remedy the hazard because knowledge of the hazard is inadequate to prevent injury" (id at p. 12 [quoting Kinsman, supra, 37 Cal.4th at p. 673]). Although Kinsman had no occasion, given the facts of that case, to decide whether or in what circumstances landowners would owe such a duty—or more importantly, whether that duty could be delegated like "any tort law duty the hirer owes to the contractor's employees" (Seabright, supra, 52 Cal.4th at p. 594), the Court of Appeal held that Kinsman created a third exception to Privette, resulting in the following rule: "[A] hirer cannot be held liable for injuries resulting from open or known hazards the contractor could have remedied through the adoption of reasonable safety precautions," but "the hirer can be held liable when he or she exposes a contractor (or its employees) to a known hazard that cannot be remedied through reasonable safety precautions." (Op. at p. 19.)

Applying its newfound rule, the court held that summary judgment was unavailable to a hirer like Mathis, unless he could "establish[] as a matter of law that [the contractor] could have

remedied the dangerous conditions of the roof through the adoption of reasonable safety precautions." (Op. at p. 20.)

Although the court acknowledged that a video and photographs of Mathis's roof "certainly cast doubt on Gonzalez's assertion" that he could not have avoided the ledge simply by walking on the inside of the parapet wall, the court found that such evidence could not conclusively establish that Gonzalez could have done so. (*Id.* at p. 21.) The court speculated that Gonzalez's "ability to traverse the area inside the parapet wall" could have been affected by "his size" or the possibility that he was "required to carry equipment that rendered the pathway impassable." (*Id.* at p. 22.) Although Gonzalez presented no evidence at all to support those possibilities, the court believed that it was Mathis's obligation to disprove them. Because "Mathis presented no evidence negating [these] factors," the court reversed the district court's judgment. (Op. at pp. 22-23.)

The court did not address the "preventive measures" (i.e. safety precautions) that Gonzalez himself alleged could have remedied the risk, such as safety hooks. (Gonzalez C.A. Opening Br. at p. 25.) The court also rejected any inquiry into whether Gonzalez's claimed inability to take precautions was foreseeable, finding that "a hirer's liability for injuries resulting from an open hazard is not dependent on the foreseeability that a contractor might encounter the hazard." (Op. at p. 19, fn. 2.) Instead, the court remanded for trial.

3. Mathis filed a petition for rehearing on February 21, 2018. On February 23, 2018, the Court of Appeal called for a

response to the petition. On March 2, 2018, the Court of Appeal denied Mathis's petition for rehearing. This petition followed.

#### LEGAL DISCUSSION

#### I. THIS COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW TO **ESTABLISH** THAT HIRERS WHO DELEGATE RESPONSIBILITY FOR SAFETY TO CONTRACTORS NOT LIABLE FOR INJURIES RESULTING FROM OBVIOUS HAZARDS

The Court of Appeal read *Kinsman* to establish that "the hirer [of an independent contractor] can be held liable when he or she exposes a contractor (or its employees) to a known hazard that cannot be remedied [by the contractor] through reasonable safety precautions." (Op. at p. 19.) Because that decision destabilizes *Privette's* well-established framework and policies, is hugely consequential for millions of homeowners across the state who hire contractors every day, and squarely conflicts with other published California appellate decisions, this Court should grant review.

### A. Review Is Warranted Because The Court of Appeal's Important Decision Undermines Privette's Framework And Policies

The *Privette* doctrine "generally prohibits an independent contractor or his employees from suing the hirer of the contractor for workplace injuries." (Op. at p. 4; see also *SeaBright*, *supra*, 52 Cal.4th at p. 594.) Under its framework, "[b]y hiring an independent contractor, the hirer implicitly delegates to the contractor any tort law duty it owes *to the contractor's employees* to ensure the safety of the specific workplace that is the subject of the contract." (*SeaBright*, *supra*, 52 Cal.4th at p. 594.) Because

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