Supreme Court No. S 247677 2nd Civil No. B 272344

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

LUIS GONZALEZ,	Supreme Court No. S 247677
Plaintiff and Appellant,	2 nd Civil No. B 272344 LASC Case No. BC 542498
vs.	
JOHN R. MATHIS, et al.,	
Defendants and Respondents.	
})

From a Decision of the Second District Court of Appeal Division Seven, 2nd Civil No. B 272344

Los Angeles County, Hon. Gerald Rosenberg, Judge presiding [LASC Case No. BC 542498]

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Evan D. Marshall [Bar No. 82444]
Attorney
11400 West Olympic Blvd., Suite 1150
Los Angeles, CA 90064
(310) 458-6660/Fax: (310) 458-9065

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

Thus, the instant Opinion thus does not create a "third exception," but applies the limits of delegation as described in this Court's decisions.

This is an especially appropriate case for application of that concept. Even if falls are foreseeable, the enhanced danger of a deteriorated roof is not a risk peculiar to the activities or results for which a cleaner is hired, but is due to breach of the general duty of the property owner to alleviate risks that threaten any number of foreseeable invitees. A cleaner has no particular skill or authority to alleviate a risk which requires structural changes or repairs, so the homeowner could hardly have "delegated" safety measures to the contractor. In no meaningful sense could it be said that Mathis surrendered control of the accident site to Gonzalez.

In the paradigmatic *Privette* case the contractor is specifically engaged to encounter the subject danger so there is a clear explicit or implicit delegation of the owner/hirer's otherwise non-delegable duty of care. Often, the delegation is specified in contractual arrangements among the hirer, general contractor and subcontractors which allocate duties and responsibility for workplace safety. Absent an express agreement, delegation is implied from the nature of the undertaking, by the contractor's specialized skills or duties, by industry customs and practices as to allocation of safety procedures, or from the nature of the danger which the contractor is peculiarly suited to redress or avoid, or the contractor's assumption of control over an entire work site. In such archetypical cases, the scope of delegation is delineated by the nexus between the contractor's skills, the danger inherent in the particular engagement, and the contractor's special competence in avoiding the danger.

A house cleaner does not take exclusive control of the house, does not have plenary authority over every dangerous aspect of the house he is cleaning, and hence the scope of delegation is necessarily confined to what he can reasonably do. In the case of contractors hired for limited purposes and low-skill tasks, this raises a fact issue as to what protective measures he reasonably be expected to take, consistent with the principle that the extent of implied authority depends upon the duties with which the agent is intrusted (*N.O. Nelson Mfg. Co. v. Rush* (1918) 178 Cal. 569, 573), and depends on "evidence of the orders or direction given him or of the rules adopted for his guidance by the principal." *Forgeron Inc. v. Hansen* (1957) 149 Cal.App.2d 352, 359.

B. The Feasibility Limitation Recognized by this Court and Applied in the Instant Opinion Specifically Concerns Dangers Known to the Contractor

Logically, the feasibility of protective measures concerns *known* risks rather than unknown risks. If a risk is unknown, then it makes no sense to talk of the contractor "reasonably" taking protective measures. *Kinsman* is clear that when it talks about feasibility, it is concerned with open or known dangers.

... when there is a known safety hazard on a hirer's premises that can be addressed through reasonable safety precautions on the part of the independent contractor, ... the hirer generally delegates the responsibility to take such precautions to the contractor, and is not liable to the contractor's employee if the contractor fails to do so.

It therefore cannot be the rule that the hirer is immune from liability for every known danger.

[*Kinsman, supra*, 37 Cal.4th at 673-674]

C. Privette Jurisprudence Consistently Holds that There is No Blanket Hirer Immunity for Known or Obvious Dangers

Mathis's assertion that this Court has eliminated hirer liability for any danger known to the contractor is inconsistent with the decisions. As noted, the Court has expressly held that a known danger may be the basis of hirer liability where it cannot be avoided "through reasonable safety precautions on the part of

the independent contractor." Applying general premises liability principles, *Kinsman* notes that while an obvious danger might serve as its own warning,

this is not true in all cases. '[I]t is foreseeable that even an obvious danger may cause injury, if the practical necessity of encountering the danger, when weighed against the apparent risk involved, is such that under the circumstances, a person might choose to encounter the danger." (Krongos v. Pacific Gas & Electric Co. (1992) 7 Cal.App.4th 387, 393 [duty to protect against obvious electrocution hazard posed by overhead electrical wires]; see also Rest.2d Torts, § 343A [possessor of land liable for obvious danger if "the possessor should anticipate the harm despite such . . . obviousness"].)

[Kinsman, 37 Cal.4th at 673, emphasis added.]

As we have discussed, the hirer generally delegates to the contractor responsibility for supervising the job, including responsibility for looking after employee safety. When the hirer is also a landowner, part of that delegation includes taking proper precautions to protect against obvious hazards in the workplace. There may be situations, as alluded to immediately above, in which an obvious hazard, for which no warning is necessary, nonetheless gives rise to a duty on a landowner's part to remedy the hazard because knowledge of the hazard is inadequate to prevent injury. But that is not this case, since Kinsman acknowledges that reasonable safety precautions against the hazard of asbestos were readily available, such as wearing an inexpensive respirator. Thus, when there is a known safety hazard on a hirer's premises that can be addressed through reasonable

safety precautions on the part of the independent contractor, a corollary of *Privette* and its progeny is that the hirer generally delegates the responsibility to take such precautions to the contractor, and is not liable to the contractor's employee if the contractor fails to do so.

[Kinsman, 37 Cal.4th 673-674, emphasis added.]

Non-delegation to the contractor may therefore be found where the owner should reasonably repair rather then simply warn: in such cases, the relative burden on the owner is slight and the necessity and foreseeability of the contractor encountering the danger is high. See *Lopez v. Superior Court* (1996) 45 Cal.App.4th 705, 716 (reversing summary judgment where it was possible that even if produce debris on floor was obvious, it might be sufficiently common as to require clearing rather than relying on invitees to notice it), and *Donohue v. San Francisco Housing Auth*ority (1993) 16 Cal.App.4th 658, 664-665, noting that the "obvious danger" defense is a recharacterization of the former secondary assumption of risk doctrine, now subsumed into comparative fault.

D. There is No Conflict Between the Holding of the Instant Case and Other Decisions of this Court

Mathis claims that *Tverberg* rejects the proposition that the hirer may be liable for risks which the contractor cannot reasonably avoid. As noted above, *Tverberg* in fact confirms that delegation of the landowner's responsibilities rests on the extent to which a contractor can reasonably take precautionary measures. *Tverberg*, 49 Cal.4th at 528. *Tverberg* says nothing inconsistent with the instant Opinion. While in *Tverberg* no one raised the issue of feasability or the scope of implied delegation, its language confirms that *Privette* concerns delegation of responsibility for a contractor's failure to take *reasonable* safety measures.

Review was granted in *Tverberg* to resolve a disagreement among intermediate courts as to whether the *Privette* doctrine applied to shield a general contractor against injuries suffered by an independent sub-contractor. The plaintiff in *Tverberg* was an independent contractor who sued the general contractor after he fell into an uncovered hole dug for a bollard footing adjacent to an area where plaintiff was to erect a canopy. The fall was deemed an inherent risk of the canopy work because the work had to take place immediate adjacent to the hole, and – more importantly – the independent contractor had been granted control over the hired work through a chain of delegation from the general contractor through a subcontractor. *Tverberg* is the pardigmatic case of a contractor having control over the work site and vested with the power to take safety measures. It was unconcerned with the feasability of protective measures, probably because the independent contractor had himself modified the work site by removing certain stakes (*Id.* at 523), and did not contend that he was unable to take other protective measures.

Significantly, the Court recognized in *Tverberg* that the injured employee could maintain a direct liability claim based on retained control over the premises and remanded for the lower court to resolve that issue. (49 Cal.4th at 529) On remand, the Court of Appeal held that the general contractor's affirmative contribution to the accident could consist of (1) directing another subcontractor to dig the bollard holes in the first place, (2) Fillner's determination that there was no need to cover or barricade the bollard holes, or (3) Fillner's failure to cover the holes after Tverberg twice asked that it do so. *Tverberg v. Fillner Construction, Inc.* (2012) 202 Cal.App.4th 1439, 1448. While these were phrased in terms of "affirmative contribution" or retained control by the hirer, they illustrate limitations on *Privette* delegation which, like feasibility, present triable issues of fact.

Nor does SeaBright Insurance Company v. U.S. Airways (2011) 52 Cal.4th 590, create the blanket exemption from "any tort duties" for which Respondent cites it. SeaBright applied rather than overruled or limited Kinsman and Hooker in resolving the question of whether duties imposed by OSHA on a hirer were "delegable" and thus subject to the Privette rule. SeaBright nowhere touches upon the issue of whether the hirer may be liable when it presents the independent contractor with a danger the contractor cannot reasonably avoid. And the claim that Seabright eliminated all tort duties from hirer to contractor is absurd: a hirer who assaults a contractor, violates a voluntarily assumed duty, or commits a direct tortious act which imposes liability beyond the peculiar risk rule can certainly be held responsible.

See *Vargas v. FMI, Inc.* (2015) 233 Cal.App.4th 638, 651, rejecting the argument that "under *Privette*, *Tverberg*, and *SeaBright*, a hirer can never be liable for injuries to an independent contractor because "the duty to provide a safe working environment is implicitly and presumptively delegated in all independent contractor agreements" unless the hirer is actively negligent, and *Felmlee v. Falcon Cable TV* (1995) 36 Cal.App.4th 1032, 1038, stating that "*Privette* does not purport to abolish all forms of vicarious liability in general, or the doctrine of nondelegable duty in particular, as a basis for suits by employees of contractors against the contractors' employer. Cases are not authority for propositions not discussed."

Mathis advances a parade of public policy horribles, none of which are presented by the instant Opinion or by the facts of the case.

First, the Opinion allegedly undermines *Hooker* because "a hirer who *does* not retain control over the job site and does not affirmatively contribute to the

injury at all can now be liable," and that this requires "a lesser showing to impose liability on a hirer who is delegated more control for safety to an independent contractor . . ." (Petition, page 20) This claim rests heavily on the indiscriminate use of the notions of "control" and "delegation." Obviously Gonzales did not control the roof edge, and responsibility for the condition of the roof which was not delegated to him in any reasonable sense. He was merely traversing the roof edge to reach the work site. How can it be said that the contractor who has no control over the existence of the dangerous condition and is not hired to remedy the condition has "more control" that the property owner? Gonzalez had explicitly told Mathis's agent that Mathis needed to hire a roofer to correct the problem.

There is no inconsistency with *Hooker*, which only extended the rationale of *Privette* to the doctrine of negligent exercise of a broadly retained control under *Restatement 2d, Torts*, §414.10, in so far as the hirer failed to actually exercise control theoretically retained under the agreement with the contractor. The instant opinion simply recognizes that there are realistic limits to the notion of delegation, and that the hirer cannot expect a contractor to assume responsibility for conditions which the contractor will reasonably encounter without protective measures.

Mathis confuses two issues: retained control is a basis for liability under *Hooker* where it contributes to the injury, but that notion is in no way inconsistent with *Kinsman's* observation that delegation of duty under *Privette* may be limited by the feasibility of protective measures, even where the danger is open and obvious. These are two different but consistent limitations on *Privette* immunity. This confusion infects the entirety of Mathis's policy arguments.

The rule of workers' compensation exclusivity 'does not preclude the employee from suing anyone else whose conduct was a proximate cause of the injury.' (Privette, supra, 5 Cal.4th at p. 697), and when affirmative conduct by the hirer of a contractor is a proximate cause contributing to the injuries of an employee of a contractor, the employee should not be precluded from suing the hirer.

[Hooker, 27 Cal.4th at 214]

As *Hooker* notes, imposing liability on a hirer whose conduct affirmatively contributes to injury to an employee of an independent contractor is consistent with Privette because the hirer's liability is direct, not derivative of the contractor's acts – not because the risk it creates is open and obvious. (*Id.* at 212)

Mathis also misstates *Hooker* in suggesting that it held that it is immaterial that the owner negligently created the danger. *Hooker*, like *Privette*, is concerned with liability which is "vicarious" in the sense that it derives from the negligence of the hired contractor who caused the injury by failing to use reasonable care in performing the work. *Hooker* thus confirms, with the present Opinion, that delegation of responsibility to a contractor is implied only as to risks which the contractor can avoid by reasonable safety measures. *Hooker*, 27 Cal.4th at 205; *Toland v. Sunland Housing Group*, *supra*, 18 Cal.4th at 265

Mathis then advances the odd claim that imposing liability on the owner for a deteriorated condition which the contractor was neither hired nor competent to remedy will somehow penalize homeowners and discourage them from hiring specialized contractors competent to correct the conditions.

Such a rule will produce bizarre results, freeing a hirer from liability for injuries that could have been prevented had the hirer complied with statutory obligations while imposing liability when the hirer violates no rule and has no reason to believe the independent contractor is at risk. Those results will particularly harm homeowners, who typically will be unable to gauge their exposure to liability because the availability of reasonable safety precautions often is uniquely within a skilled contractor's competence, rather than their own . . .

[Petition 23]

This case belies such claims. Mathis knew that he needed a roofer to correct the dangerous condition, knew that he was violating his duty as a property owner. He was specifically told by Gonzalez about the need to hire a roofer and tacitly assumed that duty. Exempting a property owner from liability to contractors or anyone else for a dangerous condition due to their failure to observe basic due care in the management of their property will reward them for *not* hiring competent and qualified specialists. To suggest that responsibility for a deteriorated roof should be shifted from the property owner to a house cleaner is offensive to public policy, and finds no justification in workers compensation law since the cost of injuries imposed by negligent maintenance of property should be borne by property liability insurance, not by the workers compensation system.

In short, liability in this case rests firmly on the hirer's own fault and his knowing refusal to hire a qualified contractor to deal with a known risk resulting from the hirer's neglect extraneous to the work to be performed. Nothing in public policy supports exempting such a defendant from liability.

5. THERE IS NO CONFLICT WITH DECISIONS OF THE COURTS OF APPEAL

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